IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 89,657

EDWARD EUGENE RAGSDALE,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL J. MINERVA Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 092487

TODD G. SCHER Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0899641

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1444 Biscayne Boulevard Suite 202 Miami, FL 33132 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On January 16, 1986, the grand jury of Pasco County, Florida, returned an indictment against Mr. Ragsdale in which he and co-defendant Leon Illig were charged with the first-degree murder and armed robbery of Ernest Mace (R. 775). On January 22, 1987, Mr. Ragsdale's appointed counsel, William R. Webb, filed a Motion to Withdraw, which motion was granted on February 2, 1987 (R. 842). The Court appointed A. J. Ivie to represent Mr. Ragsdale. On June 19, 1987, Mr. Ivie filed a Motion to Withdraw as Mr. Ragsdale's counsel, which motion was granted on June 30, 1987 (R. 856). Thereafter, the Court appointed a succession of three attorneys to represent Mr. Ragsdale, all of whom were allowed to withdraw citing conflict of interest (R. 858, 860, 862). On August 21, 1987, the Court appointed Robert Culpepper, III, who eventually represented Mr. Ragsdale at trial (R. 862).

Prior to Mr. Ragsdale's trial, co-defendant Illig entered into a plea agreement whereby he pled guilty to murder and received a life sentence for his involvement in the homicide. Mr. Ragsdale's trial was held on May 2-4, 1988. The jury found Mr. Ragsdale guilty of first-degree murder and armed robbery on May 4, 1988 (R. 632-33). A one-day penalty phase was held on May 5, 1988. Defense counsel presented only the brief testimony of Mr. Ragsdale's brother Terry, who had testified on behalf of the State during the guilt-innocence phase (R. 686). The jury was instructed on the aggravating circumstances of committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment; committed in the commission of armed robbery; pecuniary gain; especially wicked, evil, atrocious, and cruel; and cold, calculated, and premeditated (R. 749-50).

The sentencing jury, during deliberations, delivered several notes to the trial court. First, the jury asked "We would like a legal definition of no contest, nolo contendere" (R. 757).¹ The jury later came back another question: "Is it unjust-just to sentence the defendant to a greater sentence (death) than the accomplice, if based on the testimony heard by the jurors, the jurors believe the defendant may have had a lesser part in the murder?" (R. 762). The court responded by telling them that it was their job (R. 762). By a vote of 8 to 4, the jury recommended the death penalty (R. 765).

Judge Wayne L. Cobb sentenced Mr. Ragsdale to death on May 13, 1988 (R. 663-68). The trial court found all of the aggravating circumstance on which the jury was instructed except for "cold, calculated and premeditated" (R. 665-66). The trial court found no mitigating circumstances.

This Court affirmed Mr. Ragsdale's convictions and sentence of death. <u>Ragsdale</u> v. State, 609 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1992).

Mr. Ragsdale filed his motion for postconviction relief under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 on March 24, 1994, some eight (8) months before the two-year date under then-existing Rule 3.850 (PC-R. 10-75). In that motion, Mr. Ragsdale included a claim that various state agencies had not complied with his public records requests (PC-R. 16-19). For example, Mr. Ragsdale notified the Court that the Pasco County State Attorney's Office as well as the Pasco County Sheriff's Office had not complied with Chapter 119 (PC-R. 12; 17).

¹During the penalty phase, Mr. Ragsdale's counsel offered co-defendant Illig's conviction in mitigation; Illig had pled nolo contendere to his involvement in the killing (R. 697).

On October 17, 1994, Mr. Ragsdale filed a Motion to Compel Disclosure of Documents Pursuant to Chapter 119.01, Fla. Stat. (PC-R. 79-84). On November 16, 1994, Mr. Ragsdale filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 85-187).

On October 10, 1995, the State Attorney's Office released its files to Mr.

Ragsdale's counsel (PC-R. 192; 225). However, the State Attorney's Office claimed numerous statutory exemptions (PC-R. 225-31). On January 31, 1996, Mr. Ragsdale amended his previously-filed motion to compel disclosure of public records pursuant to Chapter 119 (PC-R. 188-91), arguing, inter alia, that the State was obligated to submit the allegedly exempted materials for an in camera inspection, and that an evidentiary hearing was warranted (PC-R. 189).

On March 4, 1996, the State of Florida filed its responsive pleading to Mr. Ragsdale's motion to compel Chapter 119 materials, detailing the various statutory bases on which it was relying in refusing to disclose records to Mr. Ragsdale (PC-R. 225-31).² At a hearing on March 4, 1996, Judge Cobb granted Mr. Ragsdale's counsel leave to respond in writing to the detailed list of statutory exemptions claimed by the State Attorney's Office because counsel had just been served in open court (PC-R. 571; 575-77). Thereafter, on March 12, 1996, Mr. Ragsdale filed his written objections to the propriety and applicability of the putative statutory exemptions asserted by the State Attorney's Office (PC-R. 192-220).

²The index to the Record on Appeal erroneously states that the State's responsive pleading was filed on May 10, 1996. The State's pleading contains a certificate of service bearing the date March 4, 1996 (PC-R. 231). Mr. Ragsdale's counsel was personally served with the State's pleading in open court on March 4, 1996 (PC-R. 570-82).

On May 10, 1996, Judge Cobb entered an order denying Mr. Ragsdale's request for production of records under Chapter 119 (PC-R. 279). On May 10, 1996, Mr. Ragsdale filed a Motion to Seal Materials from State Attorney's Office in Court File and Notice of Amendment (PC-R. 280-81). Judge Cobb denied the request to seal the documents that had been provided to him by the State Attorney's Office for an <u>in camera</u> inspection (PC-R. 282).

On July 12, 1996, Mr. Ragsdale filed a Consolidated Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend (PC-R. 283-394). On July 19, 1996, Judge Cobb ordered a <u>Huff</u> hearing, which was conducted on September 16, 1996 (PC-R. 584-95). At the commencement of the <u>Huff</u> hearing, Mr. Ragsdale's counsel noted that the State had not filed an answer to Mr. Ragsdale's Rule 3.850 motion and that "at this point the State would have been deemed to have waived any arguments or defenses as to any affirmative defenses regarding any of the claims raised in this motion" (PC-R. 586-87). The State's position was that it had not been ordered by Judge Cobb to file an answer to the 3.850 motion, yet proceeded to argue and raise affirmative defenses to the claims raised by Mr. Ragsdale (PC-R. 590-91).

On September 30, 1996, Judge Cobb denied Mr. Ragsdale's Rule 3.850 motion without an evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 399). Based on the contents of Judge Cobb's order, Mr. Ragsdale filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge and Supporting Memorandum of Law (PC-R. 539-48). On October 18, 1996, Judge Cobb entered an order denying the motion to disqualify as legally insufficient (PC-R. 549).

On October 18, 1996, Mr. Ragsdale sought rehearing from the order denying Rule 3.850 relief (PC-R. 550-57). On October 24, 1996, Judge Cobb entered an order denying rehearing (PC-R. 558). A notice of appeal was thereafter timely filed (PC-R. 559-60).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. The lower court erred in its summary disposition of public records issues. The State Attorney's Office claimed numerous exemptions from disclosure not only under Chapter 119, but under other irrelevant statutory provisions. The numerous exemptions claimed by the State Attorney's Office were inapplicable on their face, and lacked any good faith basis. The lower court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on the applicability of the asserted exemptions, contrary to this Court's ruling in Walton v. Dugger. The lower court also erred in failing to conduct an adequate in camera inspection of the materials withheld from Mr. Ragsdale. By its own admission, the lower court merely "perused" the documents, failing to make any findings with respect to the validity or applicability of the putative exemptions asserted by the State Attorney's Office. By its own admission, the lower court further failed to conduct an in <u>camera</u> inspection of three (3) audio cassette tapes provided by the State Attorney's Office. Because none of the exemptions claimed by the State Attorney's Office were validly claimed, these materials should be disclosed to Mr. Ragsdale immediately. In the alternative, the Court should remand this cause to the lower court for an evidentiary hearing, to conduct a proper in camera inspection of the withheld documents, and disclose those documents for which no exemption was validly claimed. Mr. Ragsdale

should thereafter be given no less than sixth (60) days within which to amend his postconviction motion with any materials disclosed by the lower court.

- 2. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Ragsdale's motion to disqualify Judge Wayne Cobb. After receiving Judge Cobb's order summarily denying his Rule 3.850 motion, in which Judge Cobb labeled most of Mr. Ragsdale's claims for relief "bogus," a "sham," and "nothing more than abject whining," Mr. Ragsdale timely filed a motion to disqualify Judge Cobb. Because the nature and tenor of Judge Cobb's order raised more than a reasonable fear on Mr. Ragsdale's part that the court harbored bias and prejudice not only against Mr. Ragsdale but also his collateral counsel, Mr. Ragsdale requested that a neutral, impartial tribunal be assigned to hear his case. Judge Cobb's refusal to disqualify himself was erroneous, and this Court should remand with directions that Mr. Ragsdale's claims be considered before a neutral impartial judge.
- 3. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that he was denied a reliable adversarial testing at the guilt phase of his capital trial. The limited attachments from the record that accompanied the lower court's order do not conclusively demonstrate that Mr. Ragsdale is not entitled to relief; rather, the attachments support Mr. Ragsdale's entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Ragsdale's postconviction motion alleged numerous extra-record allegations that cannot be refuted by the record. For example, the State failed to disclose photographs taken by the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, photographs which have since been disclosed pursuant to Chapter 119 and which establish that luminal testing was conducted on the clothing of both Mr. Ragsdale and his co-defendant Leon Illig and revealed the presence of blood on

the clothing of Illig, and none on Mr. Ragsdale. Despite trial counsel's efforts to obtain these photographs, they were never produced and never shown to the jury. The State's failure to disclose these photographs further hampered trial counsel's efforts to defend Mr. Ragsdale, for example, trial counsel never presented any forensic testimony or evidence to support the defense theory that Illig, not Mr. Ragsdale, cut the victim's throat. Mr. Ragsdale also alleged that a key State's witness gave false testimony when he testified that Mr. Ragsdale confessed to him. The State procured this false testimony by threatening the witness. The jury also never heard the testimony of Leon Illig because defense counsel failed to know the law regarding invocation of the Fifth Amendment privilege. Illig was never required to testify because he invoked the Fifth Amendment, yet he had already pled guilty, was sentenced, and never appealed his conviction. Case law at the time established that Illig could not invoke the Fifth Amendment and was therefore obligated to testify. Counsel, however, failed to know the law. Trial counsel also failed to investigate and present available evidence of voluntary intoxication, as well as available evidence that Mr. Ragsdale was incapable of making a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver of his Miranda rights. Due to the State's Brady violations, counsel's ineffective assistance, and/or newly discovered evidence, confidence in the outcome of Mr. Ragsdale's guilt phase is undermined. An evidentiary hearing was and is warranted before a neutral, impartial tribunal.

4. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that he was denied an adversarial testing at the penalty phase of his capital trial. The only witness called by the defense at the penalty phase was Mr. Ragsdale's brother, the very

witness who testified for the prosecution at the guilt phase that Mr. Ragsdale confessed the killing to him. Other family members, including Mr. Ragsdale's mother and other siblings, were available to testify yet counsel, without a tactic or strategy failed to investigate and prepare. Counsel also failed to investigate Mr. Ragsdale's mental health background and seek the appointment of an expert to assist and testify during the penalty phase. Despite knowing that Mr. Ragsdale had a severe head injury suffered during a car accident, counsel failed to seek the services of a neurological or neuropsychological expert. No mental health mitigation was presented at the penalty phase. Mr. Ragsdale has since been evaluated by qualified experts, and it has been determined that Mr. Ragsdale does suffer from frontal lobe organic brain damage, mental retardation, and other psychological deficits. Statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances apply to Mr. Ragsdale, yet no such evidence was presented at the penalty phase due to counsel's failure to investigate and prepare. Here, prejudice is apparent. The jury returned a recommendation of 8 - 4 for the death penalty, and asked several questions which revealed the jurors' concerns about the relative culpability between Mr. Ragsdale and Illig. Had the jurors been made aware of the mitigation that existed, including uncontroverted evidence of organic brain damage, a life recommendation would have been returned. An evidentiary hearing was and is warranted before a neutral and impartial tribunal.

4. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that he failed to receive effective assistance of mental health experts, in violation of Ake v.

Oklahoma. No background information was sought about Mr. Ragsdale's history either

from the competency expert or by trial counsel, and the expert relied only on Mr. Ragsdale's self-report. Despite uncontroverted evidence that Mr. Ragsdale suffered a serious head injury during a car accident and a disfiguring accident after being shot through the eye with an arrow, no neuropsychological testing was ever performed on Mr. Ragsdale. Collateral counsel have had Mr. Ragsdale examined by qualified experts, and it has been determined that Mr. Ragsdale suffers from frontal lobe organic brain damage, mental retardation, and other deficits. None of this information was investigated and presented by mental health experts. An evidentiary hearing was and is warranted before a neutral, impartial tribunal.

- 5. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that he was incompetent to stand trial and that trial counsel and the lower court erred in failing to conduct a competency hearing.
- 6. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object to the numerous instances of improper and unconstitutional argument advanced by the State during the penalty phase.
- 7. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to argue that evidence in the record was mitigating.
- 8. The statutory aggravating circumstances and the jury instructions on said aggravating circumstances are impermissibly and unconstitutionally vague.

- 9. The jury was instructed on the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated, and premeditated. However, the lower court found that this aggravating factor was not established. Under <u>Archer v. State</u>, an invalid aggravating factor was erroneously injected into the jury's sentencing calculus. Under <u>Archer and Richmond v.</u>
 Lewis, this error requires a jury resentencing.
- 10. Mr. Ragsdale's sentencing jury was misled as to its sentencing responsibility, in violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>.
- 11. Florida' overbroad death penalty statute was applied to Mr. Ragsdale in violation of the Eighth Amendment.
- 12. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that trial counsel failed to object to Mr. Ragsdale's absence during critical stages of the proceedings.
- 13. The sentencing court erred in failing to independently weight the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 14. The trial court exhibited a bias in favor of the prosecution, and trial counsel failed to object.
- 15. The prior conviction used to support the "under sentence of imprisonment" aggravating circumstance was unconstitutionally obtained, in violation of <u>Johnson v.</u>

 <u>Mississippi.</u>
- 16. Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to Mr. Ragsdale.

- 17. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Ragsdale's claim that trial counsel failed to object to the shackling and security procedures employed during the trial.
- 18. Florida's Rules of Professional Responsibility unconstitutionally prohibit collateral counsel from interviewing trial jurors.
- 19. The effect of cumulative errors during Mr. Ragsdale's trial establishes that Mr. Ragsdale was deprived of a fair trial.

ARGUMENT I

THE PUBLIC RECORDS CLAIM

The Office of the State Attorney for the Sixth Judicial Circuit claimed numerous exemptions from disclosure under Chapter 119 and other statutory provisions. As discussed below, the exemptions claimed by the State Attorney's Office are on their face inapplicable to the instant situation. The lower court therefore erred in its refusal to order the disclosure of the records allegedly exempt under the statutory provisions cited by the State Attorney's Office, The lower court also erred in failing to grant Mr.

Ragsdale an evidentiary hearing in order to establish the invalidity of the putative exemptions claimed by the State. Finally, the lower court committed reversible error in the manner in which it conducted the <u>in camera</u> inspection, and in failing to conduct an <u>in camera</u> inspection of all the materials provided to it by the State Attorney's Office.

For all these reasons, this Court should remand this cause to the lower court to order disclosure of records, for an evidentiary hearing, and to conduct a proper <u>in camera</u> inspection of all materials sealed by the State Attorney's Office.

A. THE STATUTORY EXEMPTIONS CLAIMED BY THE STATE ATTORNEY'S OFFICE ARE INAPPLICABLE AND/OR INVALID IN THIS CASE.

The Office of the State Attorney refused to provide Mr. Ragsdale with numerous records and materials that it claimed were exempt under Chapter 119 and various other statutory provisions. The lower court, after only "perusing" some of the materials during an <u>in camera</u> inspection, denied without any comment Mr. Ragsdale's request for production of these documents (PC-R. 279).

While the lower court judge improperly and inappropriately labeled Mr.

Ragsdale's efforts to obtain public records "bogus and a sham" (PC-R. 399), it is clear from the sundry exemptions asserted by the State that it merely perused the Florida

Statutes in order to find any farfetched provision to assert so that Mr. Ragsdale would be thwarted in his efforts to fully investigate his case and prepare and present a proper and complete Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Ragsdale objected to the applicability of the exemptions claimed by the State, and argued that the exemptions claimed as justification for nondisclosure of this withheld material were legally insufficient (PC-R. 194). As Mr. Ragsdale argued below, most of the claimed exemptions were patently frivolous and therefore the good faith basis for their being claimed was doubtful (PC-R. 194-95). The State's efforts to thwart Mr. Ragsdale from obtaining all information relating to his case should not be condoned by this Court. Cf. In re Amendment to Florida Rules of

^{&#}x27;Judge Cobb's personal opinions as to Mr. Ragsdale's efforts to seek Chapter 119 compliance formed the basis of a motion to disqualify. <u>See</u> Argument II, <u>infra</u>. Contrary to Judge Cobb's opinions, a capital defendant's efforts to seek Chapter 119 compliance are not "bogus" nor do they constitute a "sham." Rather, this Court has imposed on capital litigants a strict diligence requirement in seeking and obtaining public records in the first instance. Porter v. State, 653 So. 2d 374 (Fla. 1995).

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