# FILED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 8 1997

CLERK, SUSPENSE COURT

China Chaptery Clark

EDWARD EUGENE RAGSDALE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 89,657

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

The appellant's next issue was properly denied as refuted by the record. A review of defense counsel's closing argument clearly refutes the appellant's claim of ineffectiveness based on the alleged inadequacy of the argument. While the defense may not have focused on emphasizing particular mitigating factors to current counsel's satisfaction, the overall theme of the closing argument was to repeatedly stress the penalty phase strategy: that the appellant was an accomplice in this murder, and his participation was relatively minor. This strategy was obviously effective in getting the jury to consider the comparative roles of these defendants, as evidenced by the jury question on relative culpability (DA-R. 762). Counsel also challenged the existence and weight of the aggravating factors and emphasized as nonstatutory mitigation the character evidence that had been elicited from Terry Ragsdale (DA-R. 732-748).

The appellant asserts that trial counsel should have argued that the appellant's good behavior during trial and prior head injuries mitigated his behavior in killing Ernest Mace. This is exactly the type of second-guessing counsel's actions that is prohibited by <u>Strickland</u>. The question is not whether collateral counsel has a different argument he would offer; the question is

whether the argument that was given fell below the standard expected of a reasonably competent attorney. Ferauson v. State, 593 so. 2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1992) (speculation in hindsight that a different argument may have been more effective does not establish deficient performance of argument given).

The appellant's reliance on <u>Clark v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S172 (Fla. March 27, 1997), is misplaced. Counsel herein did not express any doubts about asking the jurors to recommend a life sentence or offer any negative opinions about the appellant's character. The appellant has not identified any comment from counsel's closing argument which could suggest that counsel had abdicated his responsibility to the appellant.

A review of defense counsel's closing argument refutes the suggestion that counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately argue for a life recommendation. Therefore, he is not entitled to relief on this issue.

# ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS IMPROPERLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN OF PROOF.

The appellant's next claim is procedurally barred. Challenges to the propriety of jury instructions must be presented at trial and on direct appeal, This Court has repeatedly rejected this exact claim as barred. Harvey, 656 So. 2d at 1255-1256; Roberts, 568 So. 2d at 1257-1258; Engle, 576 So. 2d at 701. The appellant does not even attempt to explain why this claim should be subject to consideration at this time. The claim is also meritless. Preston v State, 531 So. 2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1988); Aranso v. State, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla.), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1140 (1982). No relief is warranted.

#### ISSUE X

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN **SUMMARILY** DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN ON HIS AGGRAVATING FACTORS WERE IMPROPER.

The appellant next raises a claim which is clearly procedurally barred. He asserts that his sentence is invalid because his jury was inadequately or improperly instructed on five aggravating factors. Although such a claim may be cognizable in postconviction proceedings where trial counsel objected to the adequacy of the instruction given and the sufficiency of the instruction was presented as an issue on direct appeal, the instructions in this case were not challenged at trial or on appeal, and therefore this issue is barred.

The appellant's allegation of unconstitutionality of the "during the course of a felony" aggravating factor on the theory that it is an automatic aggravator is not subject to review simply because the appellant had moved to dismiss the indictment based on the alleged unconstitutionality of the statute prior to trial; this did not preserve any claim regarding the instruction for appellate review. Harvey, 656 So. 2d at 1258; Ferguson v. Sinaletary, 632 So. 2d 53, 56 (Fla. 1993); Beltran-Lopez v. State, 626 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 2122 (1994). Similarly, the appellate challenge to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute does not compel postconviction review of this issue. In addition, the claim has been rejected by this Court many

times, and none of the cases cited by the appellant demand that the issue be revisited. Stewart v. State, 588 So. 2d 972, 973 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, U.S. [112 S. Ct. 15991 (1992); Engle, 576 So. 2d at 702.

Similarly, the lack of an instruction that the factors of "committed during a robbery" and "committed for pecuniary gain" must be treated as one factor does not establish constitutional error in the appellant's sentencing proceeding. This Court has upheld the lack of such an instruction where, as here, there was no request for the instruction made at trial and the trial court properly merged the applicable factors. Jones v. State, 652 So. 2d 346, 350 (Fla.), cert. denied, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_, 116 S. Ct. 202 (1995); Derrick v. State, 641 So. 2d 378, 380 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_, 115 s. ct. 943 (1995).

As to the instruction on the factor of pecuniary gain, the appellant does not identify the basis of his consitutional challenge or cite any relevant authority to support his assertion that the instruction violated the Eighth Amendment. The appellant has never offered an expanded definition for this factor which he believes should have been given.

As with the other instructions discussed in this issue, there was no objection to the heinous, atrocious or cruel instruction during the trial, and no alternative instruction on this factor was ever suggested by counsel. Even though the issue was not raised on

direct appeal, this Court addressed the adequacy of the instruction since Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S. Ct. 2926, 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992) was released while rehearing was pending in this case. Any Espinosa error was specifically found to be both barred and harmless. See, 609 So. 2d at 14. In addition, this Court has rejected the suggestion that counsel should be found ineffective for failing to litigate the adequacy of the instruction. Lambrix v. Singletary, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994).

The appellant's complaint on the 'under sentence of imprisonment" factor is that the jury was not told "the weight of this aggravator was less if the defendant had not committed the homicide after escaping from confinement," citing Sonser v. State, 544 so. 2d 1010 (Fla. 1989). Even if that were true, although the State does not read Songer as establishing this as a matter of law, there is no constitutional requirement that a jury be told what weight to give an aggravating factor. The appellant's second complaint, that the trial judge was incorrect in noting that the factor had not been provided to the jury or found by the judge, is of no moment since the court's primary rejection of this issue as procedurally barred was correct.

Finally, the appellant challenges the instruction on cold, calculated and premeditated as improper since the trial judge did not find this factor to exist. As this Court has recognized, a jury is not going to be misled about a factor which lacks the

necessary factual support. Foster v. State, 679 So. 2d 747, 753 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 117 s. ct. 1259 (1997);

Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So. 2d 575, 577 (Fla.), cert. denied,

508 U.S. 901 (1993). The appellant's reliance on Archer v. State,

613 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1993), is misplaced as that case involved a factor which was found improperly as a matter of law, and not due to a lack of factual support, since the heinous, atrocious or cruel factor is not to be applied vicariously.

In conclusion, the appellant's claim of jury instruction error based on the instructions given on the five aggravating factors is not properly before this Court and must be rejected entirely as procedurally barred. Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988) ('Because a claim of error regarding the instructions given by the trial court should have been raised on direct appeal, the issue is not cognizable through collateral attack").

#### ISSUE XI

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THIS COURT DID NOT PROPERLY ASSESS ANY JURY INSTRUCTION ERROR.

The appellant's next claim is also procedurally barred. The appellant claims that a new sentencing is required because this Court "failed to address" an issue never presented in the direct appeal, to wit, the impact of having instructed the jury on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor when that factor was not found by the trial judge. Such allegations of jury instruction error are properly rejected as barred in postconviction proceedings. Gorham, 521 So. 2d at 1070.

The appellant asserts that, as a matter of law, Archer, 613 so. 2d at 448, and Richmond v. Lewis, 506 U.S. 40, 113 S. Ct. 528, 121 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1992) require that relief be granted. However, those cases are inapposite as they involved aggravating factors which were improperly weighed by the sentencers. In the instant case, the trial judge concluded that this circumstance had not been factually established; the jury is presumed to have reached the same conclusion. Foster, 679 So. 2d at 753. No relief is warranted.

#### ISSUE XII

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE APPELLANT'S JURY INSTRUCTIONS DILUTED THEIR SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY.

The appellant's next claim is again procedurally barred. The appellant faults the trial court for repeatedly characterizing the jury's role as "advisory," allegedly in violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1985). This is clearly an issue which must be raised on direct appeal, and this Court has repeatedly rejected claims that defense counsel's failure to properly litigate this issue during the trial and direct appeal amount to ineffective assistance of counsel. See, Johnston. 583 So. 2d at 662-663, n. 2; Gorham, 521 So. 2d at 1070; pose, 617 So. 2d at 297; Mendyk, 592 So. 2d at 1080-1081; Provenzano, 561 So. 2d at 545. No relief is warranted.

# ISSUE XIII

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD.

The appellant's next claim is procedurally barred. A challenge to the constitutionality of the death penalty statute was raised and rejected in the appellant's direct appeal. 609 So. 2d at 14. Although the appellant asserts that Richmond V. Lewis, 113 S. Ct. at 528, requires reconsideration of this issue, Richmond is not a case about the constitutionality of a statute. Florida's death penalty statute has been repeatedly upheld by this Court as well as the United States Supreme Court against this same claim. No relief is warranted.

#### **ISSUE XIV**

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY HIS ATTORNEY'S ALLEGED FAILURE TO ASSURE HIS PRESENCE.

The appellant's next claim is also procedurally barred. The appellant's absence from legal discussion between his counsel, the state, and the judge was known at the time of the appellant's direct appeal, and should have been raised as an issue at that time. Although the court below found this claim to be barred, the appellant does not even attempt to challenge that ruling; he merely asserts that his absence violated his constitutional rights.

In <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994), this Court rejected a similar claim:

In the instant case, Hardwick failed to raise appeal and it this issue on direct procedurally barred. However, to the extent that Hardwick argues fundamental error and counsel ineffectiveness, we find no merit to Hardwick was present throughout his claim. the trial and does not allege that he raised any objection to the bench conferences or expressed any desire to participate in those Hardwick has not shown nor conferences. attempted to show that any matter determined at these conferences that required his consultation, nor has he demonstrated that any prejudice resulted from his absence during the depositions. Under these circumstances, Hardwick is not entitled to postconviction relief.

648 So. 2d at 105.

In this case, the appellant's **absence** from two legal discussions did not interfere with his Sixth, Eighth, or Fourteenth Amendment rights. For the same reasons expressed in <u>Hardwick</u>, the appellant is not entitled to postconviction relief on this issue.

# **ISSUE XVI**

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO INDEPENDENTLY WEIGH THE AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING FACTORS IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO DEATH.

The appellant's next claim is **also** procedurally barred. The sufficiency of a court's findings with regard to aggravating and mitigating factors is clearly an issue which must be presented in a direct **appeal**. Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1077 (Fla. 1992); Engle, 576 So. 2d at 702; Agan v. State, 560 So. 2d 222, 223 (Fla. 1990). No relief is warranted.

## **ISSUE XVII**

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT WAS BIASED IN FAVOR OF THE STATE.

The appellant's next claim is again procedurally barred. All of the instances of alleged judicial bias are reflected in the direct appeal record, so this issue should have been raised on direct appeal. Kelley v. State, 569 So. 2d 754, 756 (Fla. 1990). In addition, the issue is insufficiently pled. Although the appellant asserts that bias is evident based on the fact that the trial judge overruled seventeen trial objections by defense counsel, he does not identify a single objection that should have been sustained or explain the legal theory that required the sustaining of any objection. No judicial bias is demonstrated by the overruling of meritless objections. This claim was properly summarily denied.

## ISSUE XVIII

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR FELONY, LEADING TO HIS BEING "UNDER SENTENCE OF IMPRISONMENT," WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The appellant's next claim was properly summarily rejected. The constitutionality of the appellant's prior Alabama conviction is not subject to attack in this postconviction motion. 2d 85, 88 (Fla. 1996) State, 682 So. (this Court has no jurisdiction over prior case affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal); Buenoano, 559 So. 2d at 1120. In addition, although the appellant claims that he did not have the mental ability to knowingly waive any rights and he was not represented by competent counsel, he does not offer any specific facts 'to support these conclusory allegations. Thus, this issue was insufficiently pled, Finally, it must be noted that the actual conviction that was allegedly unconstitutionally obtained was not directly used to enhance the appellant's sentence; the aggravating factor of "under sentence of imprisonment" would apply regardless of the legitimacy of the underlying imprisonment at issue. Even if the conviction were subsequently set aside, the appellant was still acting under a sentence of imprisonment at the time he killed Mace. Therefore, the appellant is not entitled to relief on this issue.

## ISSUE XIX

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The appellant's next claim is again procedurally barred. A challenge to the constitutionality of the death penalty statute was raised and rejected in the appellant's direct appeal. 609 So. 2d at 14. Thus, it is clearly barred. Engle, 576 So. 2d at 699. The appellant has not cited any relevant authority that indicates the need to reconsider the constitutionality of the statute. No relief is warranted.

## ISSUE XX

# WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS SHACKLING WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The appellant's next claim is procedurally barred. A challenge to the security measures taken during the appellant's trial should have been brought at the time of trial and raised on appeal. Williamson, 651 So. 2d at 86; Koon v. Duaaer, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993). The appellant never addresses the trial court's finding this issue to be procedurally barred. Furthermore, the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the security measures is without merit.

#### ISSUE XXI

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE HAS BEEN DENIED DUE PROCESS DUE TO HIS INABILITY TO INTERVIEW JURORS.

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